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INTRODUCTION 

 
The global marketplace presents benefits, opportunities and challenges for the food industry.  In 
recent years, there have been a number of international changes which include:  urbanization of 
nations, reduction of trade barriers between nations, significant improvement in transportation of 
agricultural products, and an increase in personal income. These changes have lead to shifts in 
food consumption.  Individuals around the world are demanding, a greater choice in the selection 
of foods, higher quality foods, safer foods, and more prepared foods.   
 
Food processors also receive direct benefits and opportunities from international trade.  These 
trade opportunities increase the potential market to sell products, thus, potentially increasing 
profits.  As a result, food processors are developing new value-added products to meet consumer  
needs and exporting these products to the new international markets. 
 
However, the global market place presents a number of challenges for the food processor.  With 
an increase in trade, there is an increase in competition. Thus, if a food processor wants to be 
successful in exporting products internationally, the company must develop a business strategy 
that includes the following: 

• An understanding of the demographics of the target market 
• An understanding of the customer requirements 
• An understanding of the food laws and regulations of the target market. 

 
The United States is a major target for food processors around the world  because of the size of 
the U.S. market and ease of understanding regulatory requirements.  All of the U.S. food 
regulations are published on the World Wide Web.  In addition the United States Department of 
Agriculture (USDA) publishes other market information on the web.  
 
The U.S. food regulations are summarized in the following requirements: 

• Food products must be wholesome and produced under Good Manufacturing 
Practices (GMPs) or Good Hygienic Principles (GHPs) 

• Food products must be safe or not cause food borne disease when properly 
prepared. 

• Food products must be properly labeled. 
 
Food that is imported into the United States must be produced and shipped in compliance with 
U.S. food processing regulations. Food processing regulations of any country may be complex.  
Therefore, anyone who wants to export food products to the United Sates, must obtain, read, and 
understand the actual food processing regulations.   
 
This article summarizes the food regulations of the United States of America. 
 

U.S. food regulations and the consumer 
 
Consumers around the world are demanding a safer supply of food products.  In the more 
wealthy nations, the customer is willing to pay more for food safety.  This demand puts market 
place pressures on the industry to provide safer food, and is forcing governments to issue more 
stringent food safety regulations for both domestically produced and imported foods. 
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The U.S. regulations define minimum standards that must be met by food processing companies.  
The distributors and retailers of food products may require that a product meet more stringent 
requirements.  These additional requirements are designed to meet specific customer needs and 
should not be seen as a barrier to trade.   
 
One example where this occurs at Harry’s Farmers Market in Atlanta, Georgia, U.S.A.  The 
company  labels the country of origin for all imported food products.  This has been done for a 
number of years and precedes the passage of the country of origin labeling law that was passed 
in 2002l.      
 
Another example is that some major fast food restaurant chains require that all of their food 
suppliers have a properly implemented and functioning HACCP program.  These customer 
requirements exceed regulatory requirements since the U.S. federal government mandates 
HACCP for only meat products, poultry products, fruit and vegetable juices and seafood.  The 
regulations that govern the production of acidified and low acid canned foods are HACCP based.   
 

U.S. food laws and regulations 
 
U.S. food laws are different from U.S. food regulations.  Food laws are generated by Congress 
(the Senate and the House of Representatives) and signed by the President.  Food regulations 
are generated by federal regulatory agencies.  The regulatory agencies are part of Federal 
Departments or ministries.  Different processes are used to develop laws and regulations. 
 
A food law starts as a document (bill) in either the U.S. Senate or House of Representatives.  
During the development process, a bill goes through an extensive review process.  Next, both the 
Senate and the House of Representatives must approve the bill. Once that is completed, the 
President of the United States must sign the bill into law.  The U.S. food laws are typically very 
general.  Many of the food laws provide legal authority to a branch of government (ministry) to 
enact the law.  The regulatory agency accomplishes this task by interpreting the law, developing 
regulations to define the specific intent of the law and enforcing the regulations.  These 
regulations are enforced with the authority of laws.   
 
The regulations are developed in an open and transparent fashion using a specific process. 

• The regulatory agency prepares a proposed regulation. 
• The proposed regulation along with the reason for the regulation is published in 

the Federal Register.  The Federal Register is published on the web 
(www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/index.html). 

• As part of this process, the regulatory agency asks for comments for the 
proposed regulation.   

• There is a given period of time where written comments are acquired.  During 
this time, the regulatory agency may also hold public meetings to gather 
additional input.  If public meetings are held, announcements will be made in the 
Federal Register.  

• The regulatory agency reviews and responds to all of the comments, and 
develops the final regulation.  

• The final regulation, the date the regulation will take effect, the responses to the 
comments, and an assessment of economic impact are published in the Federal 
Register.  In addition, the regulation is published in the Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR).   The CFR provides a list of all regulations that are in effect 
for all U.S. Federal agencies.  This documents is published on the web 
(www.gpoaccess.gov/cfr/index.html) 

• The regulation becomes effective and must be followed on or before the effective 
date.  If the regulation requires a major change, it may be phased in over a 
period of time.  For example, the pathogen reduction/HACCP regulation for the 
meat and poultry processing industry was implemented over a time period of 42 
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months.  The final rule was published on 26 July 1996 
(www.fsis.usda.gov/oa/fr/rule1.pdf).  Large meat and poultry processing plants 
(greater than 500 employees) had to implement the regulation by 26 January 
1998, small meat and poultry plants (10 to 500 employees had to implement the 
regulation by 25 January 1999, and very small meat and poultry processing 
operations (less than 10 employees) had to implement the regulation by 25 
January 20001.  

 
AGENCIES IN THE UNITED STATES  RESPONSIBLE FOR ENFORCEMENT  

OF FOOD LAWS 
 
Several governmental agencies are involved in regulating the production of food products in the 
U.S.   
 
The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
 
The FDA is part of the Department (or ministry) of Health and Human Services.  It is responsible 
for the safety of all foods except meat, poultry frozen and dried eggs and the labeling of alcoholic 
beverages.  The FDA is responsible for the safety of shell eggs and seafood.  
 
The FDA publishes its regulations in Title 21 of the U.S. CFR at the following website: 
www.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/cfrassemble.cgi?title=200121
   
The food regulations are divided into three sections: 

Section 1 Parts 1 – 99, General regulations including electronic records and 
electronic signatures 

Section 2 Parts 100-169, General regulations for Food Standards, Good 
Manufacturing Practices for food, bottled water, low acid canned food, 
acidified foods, and HACCP regulations for seafood. 

 Section 3 Parts 170-199, Regulations for food additives  
 
Some parts of the FDA regulations that may be of specific interest to companies who want to 
export food to the U.S. include: 
  Par 11   Electronic records, electronic signatures 
  Part 101  Food labeling  
                       Part 102   Common or usual name for non-standardized foods 
  Part 104   Nutritional quality guidelines for foods  

Part 109  Unavoidable contaminants in food for human 
consumption and food-packaging material                                      

Part 110  Current good manufacturing practice in manufacturing, 
packing, or holding human food 

Part 113  Thermally processed low-acid foods packaged in 
hermetically sealed containers  

                       Part 114   Acidified foods  
Part 120   Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point   

    (HACCP) systems 
Part 123   Fish and fishery products  

                       Part 130   Food standards: General   
  Parts 131-169  Specific standards of identiy 
  Part 170  Food additives 
 

                                                 
1 In addition, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration issues regulations for the application of 
HACCP to seafood in 1995, and fruit and vegetable juices in 2002. 
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The FDA generates standards of identify for a number of traditional food products.  These 
standards of identify can be found in products. Standards of identity can be found in parts 131-
169 of Title 21 of the CFG.   
 
The FDA requires the labeling of allergens in food products.  After January 1, 2006, foods labels 
must clearly identify all ingredients that contain one or more of the eight common sources of food 
allergens.  The eight food products that are identified by law as allergens are milk, eggs, fish 
(e.g., bass, flounder, cod), crustacean shellfish (e.g., shrimp, crab, lobster), tree nuts (e.g., 
almonds, walnuts, pecans), peanuts, wheat, and soybeans.  More information on the FDA 
allergen labeling requirements can be found at the following web site: 
www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/wh-alrgy.html. 
 
Seafood is regulated by the FDA and must comply with the general requirements of the Food, 
Drug, and Cosmetic Act and also with requirements of state health agencies.   Importers of 
seafood are regulated by the FDA.  They must verify that their overseas suppliers have 
implemented an acceptable HACCP plan and follow the HACCP plan.  More information on FDA 
seafood regulations can be  found at the following website:  www.cfsan.fda.gov/seafood1.html. 
 
 
United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
 
The USDA has several agencies that are responsible for developing or enforcing food 
regulations. These agencies include:  Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS), Food 
Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS), Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS), and Grain 
Inspection, Packers and Stockyards Administration (GIPSA).  
 
The agencies that are part of the USDA , publish their regulations under two titles of the Code of 
Federal Regulations:  Title 7 (Agriculture) and Title 9 (Animals and Animal Products) 
(www.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/cfr-table-search.html#page1). 
 

Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS)  
 
APHIS enforces the regulations governing the import and export of plants and animals.  
Specific import regulations depend on two factors:  1. the product and 2, the country of 
origin.  Usually all plants and plant materials imported into the U.S. must be accompanied 
by phytosanitary certificates issued by an official in the exporting country. 
 
APHIS develops two types of orders that govern the importation of plant and plant 
products into the United States.  Prohibitory orders forbid the entry of plants and plant 
products subject to attack by plant pests where a treatment is not available to ensure 
complete freedom from such pests.  Restrictive orders allow the entry of plants or plant 
products under either a treatment or an inspection requirement.  More information can be 
obtained from APHIS: 

  USDA/APHIS/PPQ 
  Import Permit Unit 
  4700 River Road, Unit 136 
  Riverdale, MD 20737-1230, U.S.A. 
  Telephone: 1-301-734-8645 
  FAX  1-302-734-5786 
 

Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS) 
 

The FSIS is responsible for ensuring that meat derived from cattle, sheep, swine, goats, 
horses, turkeys, and poultry is safe, wholesome and properly labeled.  In addition, this 
agency regulates processed products that contain meat, poultry and eggs.  Examples 
include stews, pizza and frozen food. 
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FSIS published the meat and poultry regulations in Title 9 of the Code of Federal 
Regulations, Parts 300-599 
(www.access.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/waisidx_01/9cfrv2_01.html#301). 
 
The import of meat and poultry products into the U.S. follows a two step process 
(www.fsis.usda.gov/regulations_&_policies/Import_Information/index.asp) 
First, the FSIS approves the foreign country’s meat and poultry inspection regulations as 
being equivalent to the U.S. meat and poultry inspection system.  Next, FSIS must certify 
each individual meat or poultry plant that plans to export to the United States.  This 
certification is done to ensure that the plant is producing meat or poultry products that are 
wholesome, not adulterated, and that comply with the U.S. inspection system including 
ante-mortem and post-mortem inspection. Currently, Romania is approved to export meat 
and poultry products to the United States. 
 
Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS) 
 
The AMS carries out a wide variety of programs that facilitate the marketing of 
agricultural products to ensure a quality food supply and fair-trading practices.  
Agricultural Marketing Service offers a number of programs, which include  voluntary 
grading services and third party certification.  In addition, the agency develops standards 
of identity and quality standards for products which is a fee for service program. 

 
The Agricultural Marketing Service develops grade standards for products including:  
fresh fruits, vegetables and specialty crops; processed fruits and vegetables; milk and 
other dairy products; and organic products.  These grade standards define different levels 
of quality for specific products.  The standards can be used by producers to establish 
quality control procedures.  In addition, the standards can provide a basis for inspection 
and grading commodities (www.ams.usda.gov/fv/ppb.html).  The use of the grade 
standards is voluntary.  However, if a product is labeled with a grade standard (such as 
labeling apple butter as “Grade A” or “U.S. Fancy”) the product must meet the legal 
definition for the grade standard (www.ams.usda.gov/fv/ppb.html). The FDA enforces the 
labeling of products that are covered by a grade standard when a standard grade is 
printed on the label.  Mislabeled products are classified as adulterated. 

 
The Agricultural Marketing Service is responsible for developing federal marketing orders 
(www.ams.usda.gov/fv/pdfpubs/moab.pdf).  These marketing orders are designed to 
assist farmers to solve their marketing problems by balancing market place needs such 
as quantity and quality requirements with economic needs.  This allows a fair return for 
the farmer. At the present time, there are 36 marketing orders for fruits, vegetables and 
specialty crops. 
 
The Agricultural Marketing Service maintains a web site at the following location: 
www.ams.usda.gov/fv/8eWelcome.html.  This web site is designed to assist exporting 
companies. in meeting the marketing orders for fruits and vegetables.  More information 
regarding importing products covered by marketing orders can be obtained by contacting 

   USDA, AMS, Fruit and Vegetable Program 
   Marketing Order Administration Branch 
   1400 Independence Avenue SW 
   Room 2525-South 
   Stop Code 0237 
   Washington DC 20250-0237, U.S.A. 
   Telephone:  1-202-720-2492 

  Fax  1-202-720-5698 
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Grain Inspection, Packers and Stockyards Administration (GIPSA) 
 

The GIPSA inspects gains that are imported into the U.S. to ensure that the grains meet 
the official United States standards for grain. More information on GIPSA can be found at 
the following website: 
www.usda.gov/wps/portal/!ut/p/_s.7_0_A/7_0_1OB?contentidonly=true&contentid=GIPS
A_Agency_Splash.xml&x=16&y=5. 
 
 
  

 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) 
 
The EPA coordinates and regulates pesticides which includes microbiological biocides, 
herbicides, and fungicides in the U.S.  This agency determines the safety of new pesticides, 
tolerance level for pesticide residues in foods, and water quality standards.  The FDA enforces 
the EPA standards for foods.  Foods containing excessive pesticide residues are classified as 
adulterated under federal regulations. 
 
Pesticides that are used on food products that will be exported to the U.S. must be approved by 
the EPA for that specific food product.  FDA is responsible to ensure that illegal pesticides are not 
present on imported foods. 
 
More information on pesticides that are approved for use in the U.S. can be obtained from either 
the EPA or the FDA. 
 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
Office of Pesticide Programs 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue NW 
Mail Code 7501-C 
Washington, DC 20460, U.S.A. 
Telephone:  1-703-305-7090 
FAX:   1-703-308-4775 

 Website: www.epa.gov
 

Food and Drug Administration 
Office of Regulatory Affairs 
Division of Import Operations and Policy 
(HFC-170) 
5600 Fishers Lane 
Rockville, MD 20857, U.S.A. 
Telephone: 1-301-443-6553 
FAX:  1-301-594-0413 
Website: www.fda.gov
 

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms and Explosives (ATF) 
 
The ATF is an agency of the Department of Treasury. It is responsible for enforcing the 
regulations that cover the production, distribution and labeling of alcoholic beverages which 
include beer, wine, liquor and other alcoholic beverages.  The only exception is wine beverages 
that contain less than 7 percent alcohol which is regulated by the FDA.  A summary of the 
regulations that govern alcoholic beverages that are sold in the U.S. can be found at the following 
website: 
http://lamar.colostate.edu/~hillger/laws/alcohol.html
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National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS)   
 
The NMFS manages a voluntary seafood inspection program.  More information on this program 
can be found on the following website: 
http://seafood.nmfs.noaa.gov
or at the following address 

Seafood Inspection Program 
1315 East-West Highway ·  
Silver Spring, MD 20910 U.S.A 
Telephone: 1-301-713-2355  
Fax:   1-301-713-1081 

 
U.S. Customs and Border Protection  
 
The Customs and Border Protection Service is an agency of the U.S. Department of Homeland 
Security .  This agency assesses and collects import duties and taxes.  In addition, the Customs 
and Border Protection is responsible for the control of all carriers, persons, and articles entering 
the U.S. 
 
The Customs and Border Protection requires a license or permit from the appropriate government 
agencies to import alcoholic beverages, animal and animal products; plant and plant products; 
poultry and poultry products; milk, dairy. and cheese products; and vegetables.  More information 
on U.S. Customs and Border Protection can be found on the following website: 
www.cbp.gov
http://www.cbp.gov/xp/cgov/import/commercial_enforcement/bioterrorism/
http://www.cbp.gov/xp/cgov/import/commercial_enforcement/agric_quar_insp/. 
 
Federal Trade Commission (FTC) 
 
The FTC is responsible for enforcing regulations that protect consumers from unfair, deceptive 
and fraudulent practices including deceptive and unsubstantiated advertising.  More information 
on the FTC can be found at the following website 
www.ftc.gov. 
 
State and Local Governments 
 
The state (provincial) and local government have the legal responsibility to oversee foods within 
their jurisdiction.   Most of the states food regulations are identical to the federal regulations. 
These governmental agencies work closely with the FDA, FSIS and other federal agencies to 
ensure food safety within the state borders. 
 

FDA IMPORT PROCEDURES 
 
United States regulations require that imported foods and domestically produced foods meet the 
same standards (www.fda.gov/ora/import/ora_import_system.html). 
 
The first step in exporting foods to the U.S. that are subject to FDA regulations is to ensure 
compliance with the FDA Bioterrorism regulations. Food facility must be register the facility and 
products produced with the FDA.  If the food processor wants to export low acid canned food, the 
processor must also comply with Low Acid Canned Food Regulations.   
 
The exporter or the exporter’s U.S, representative must file an entry notice and post a bond with 
the U.S. Customs and Boarder Patrol.  In addition, the exporter must file piror notice of the food 
product with either Customs and Border Protection of the FDA  before the food product enters th 
U.S. The Customs and Border Patorl works with the FDA to determine the admissibility of the 
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food product into the United States The FDA will then electronically confirm receipt of the 
completed prior notice form.  (www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/fsbtac13.html).  
 
When a food product arrives at a U.S. port, the FDA will make a decision whether to conduct a 
paper (or electronic) audit or physically examine the product.  The decision to make a physical 
audit is based on the following:   

• Nature of the product 
• FDA priorities 
• Past history of the product meeting the FDA regulations 

 
If a physical audit is conducted, the FDA will inspect the product, collect samples, and send the 
samples to an FDA district laboratory for analysis.  During the inspection and analysis time, the 
product must be held in a bonded warehouse until the FDA determines if the product is in 
compliance with regulations.  If a product is found to be in compliance with the regulations, the 
product is released into U.S. commerce.  Once a product is released into commerce, it is treated 
in the same manner as domestically produced food.   
 
If a product is not found to be in compliance with regulations, the FDA issues a “Notice of 
Detention and Hearing” to the product’s owner or importer.   The importer has several options if 
the FDA finds the product not in compliance with U.S. food regulations.   
  

• The importer can present evidence that the food is incompliance with FDA requirements.  
The FDA will determine if this information is acceptable. 

• The importer can submit a detailed plan that describes how the product can be 
reconditioned and brought into regulatory compliance.  The plan must be reviewed and 
approved by the FDA.   

• The food can be destroyed under the supervision of the U.S. Customs Service or other 
approved supervision.   

• The importer can re-export the food to another country.  
 
Chapter 9 of the FDA Regulatory Procedures Manual describes in detail the actions the FDA 
takes when evaluating food products for regulatory compliance that are into imported in the 
United States.  This manual can be found at the following web site: 
www.fda.gov/ora/compliance_ref/rpm_new2/ch9civmonpen.html.  
 
The FDA (www.cfsan.fda.gov/~lrd/import.html)  suggests the following to speed entry of food 
products into the United States: 

• “Determine before shipment that the product to be imported is legal.” 
• “Have private laboratories examine samples of food to be imported and certify 

the analysis of the processor.  While not conclusive, these analyses might serve 
as an indicator of the processor’s ability to produce acceptable legal product.” 

• “Become acquainted with FDA’s legal requirements, before contracting for a 
shipment.” 

• “Request assistance from the FDA District Office responsible for your port of 
entry.” 

• Know the food importing procedures.   
 

SUMMARY OF U.S. FOOD REGULATIONS 
 
Good Agricultural Practices (GAP) 
 
Fresh fruits and vegetables are an important part of the American diet.  This need provides over 
130 countries with the opportunity to export fresh fruits and vegetables to the U.S.   As a result of 
this international trade the U.S. consumer can purchase fresh fruits and vegetable all year long.  
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If companies and countries want to take advantage of this opportunity, they need to export 
products that are safe to eat.   
 
Good Agricultural Practices can reduce the risk of having a food safety problem with fresh fruits 
and vegetables.  Currently, GAPs are not mandatory regulations.  However, the FDA encourages 
the implementation of Good Agricultural Practices since food safety begins at the farm.    
 
The FDA defines Good Agricultural Practices in the following manner:  “General guidance 
provided by the Food and Drug Administration that is used to direct domestic and international 
food producers in growing, harvesting, sorting, packing, and storage operations to reduce 
microbial food safety hazards”  (www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/a2z-g.html). 
 
Devastating problems can occur to companies and countries that export fresh fruit and vegetable 
products that contain food borne pathogens 
(www.ers.usda.gov/publications/wrs011/wrs011i.pdf).  In 1996, there was a Cyclospora outbreak 
that caused 1365 illnesses in both the United States and Canada.  This outbreak was caused by 
raspberries that were imported from Guatemala.  As a result both the U.S. and Canadian 
governments banned the imports of raspberries from Guatemala.  In 1999, the FDA permitted the 
importation of Guatemalan raspberries, if the farms implemented a food safety program.  Prior to 
the outbreak, 85 farms in Guatemala exported raspberries to the U.S.  After the outbreak, only six 
farms export raspberries to the U.S.  As a result of the outbreak, Mexico increased their export of 
raspberries to the U.S. and took market share away from Guatemala.   
 
In 1998, the FDA published a guideline for Good Agricultural Practices entitled “The Guide to 
Minimize Microbial Food Safety Hazards for Fresh Fruits and Vegetables” 
www.foodsafety.gov/~dms/prodguid.html). From a legal perspective these guidelines are 
voluntary.  Importers in the United States, as part of a contractual requirement, may require their 
suppliers to purchase from farms that have implemented good agricultural practices that meet the 
FDA requirements.   
 
There are a number of practices farmers can use to minimize pathogen contamination during the 
production and harvest and packing of fresh produce.  The practices include: 
 Pre-planting 
  Careful selection of fields 
  Proper storage, application of manure 
  Careful selection of corps 
 Production 
  Do not side-dress with manure 
  Exclude animals from fields  
  Promote field worker hygiene and health 
  Use proper irrigation methods including testing irrigation water 
 Harvest 
  Clean harvesting equipment 
  Handle produce carefully during harvesting 
  Promote field worker hygiene and health 
  Keep produce cool 
 Post harvesting handling 
  Promote worker hygiene and health 
  Monitor work water quality 
  Sanitize packing houses 
  Use proper transportation procedures and refrigeration 
 
Good Manufacturing Practices 
 
In the United States, the minimum sanitary and processing requirements to ensure wholesome 
foods are known as Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) or current Good Manufacturing 
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Practices (cGMP).  The U.S. Good Manufacturing Practices are equivalent  to the Codex 
Alimentarius Commission (Codex) Good Hygiene Principles (GHP) 
(www.fao.org/DOCREP/005/Y1579E/Y1579E00.HTM).   
 
The FDA defines Good Manufacturing Practices as “Guidance that provides criteria for complying 
with provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, which requires that all human foods 
be free from adulteration (impurities). These regulations form the basis of production and 
preparation of safe food and include criteria for disease control, cleanliness, personal hygiene 
and dress codes), education, and training.” (www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/a2z-g.html)..  GMPs are 
published in the Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21 part 110..  These regulations cover the 
following activities in the food processing plant: 

• Personnel practices 
• Plant and grounds 
• Sanitary operations 
• Sanitary facilities and controls 
• Equipment and utensils 
• Process and controls 
• Warehousing and distribution 
• Temperature requirements 
• Natural or unavoidable defects in food for human use that present no health 

hazard 
The Good Manufacturing Practices also form part of the prerequisite programs needed to 
implement HACCP.  
 
Food Safety and HACCP 
  
Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Points (HACCP) is the international standard that defines the 
most effective approach to ensure the safety of food products.  In 1986, the U.S. National 
Academies of Sciences recommended that HACCP be applied to all U.S. food processing 
operations.  Currently, HACCP has been incorporated into the processing regulations for the 
meat and poultry products; fresh fruit and vegetable juices; and seafood.  In addition, the acidified 
and low acid canned food regulations are HACCP based.  Even though HACCP is currently not 
required in a number of food products, many customers in the food distribution system require 
mandatory HACCP programs for their suppliers.  The National Advisory Committee for the 
Microbiological Criteria of Foods (NACMCF) defines HACCP in the following manner: 

• Preliminary steps 
Assemble the HACCP team 
Describe the food and its distribution 
Describe the intended use and consumers of the food 
Develop a flow diagram, which describes the process 
Verify the flow diagram 

• Principle 1 Conduct a hazard analysis 
• Principle 2 Determine the critical control points (CCPs) 
• Principle 3 Establish critical limits 
• Principle 4 Establish monitoring procedures 
• Principle 5 Establish corrective actions 
• Principle 6 Establish verification procedures 
• Principle 7 Establish record-keeping and documentation procedures   

Properly operating prerequisite programs are essential for a successful HACCP program. 
Therefore, it is necessary that the food processor verify that all prerequisite programs have been 
implemented and are properly functioning and maintained.  The NACMCF identifies the following 
prerequisite programs: 

• Facilities 
• Supplier control 
• Receiving storage and shipping 
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• Procedures for receiving storage and shipping 
• Production equipment 
• Quality control and quality assurance procedures  
• Process, product formulations and recipes 
• Specifications 
• Glass control 
• Labeling 
• Cleaning and sanitation 
• Standard operating procedures for sanitation 
• Chemical control 
• Pest control 
• Traceability and recall 
• Personal hygiene 
• Training 
• Employee food and ingredient handling practices 

 
Food processors can verify the effectiveness of the prerequisite programs by observing the 
programs and determining the conformance of the programs to the intended requirements and by 
determining if the required records are kept and maintained.   
 
Labeling requirements 
  
The labeling requirements are intended to protect the consumer from economic fraud.  FDA 
defines economic fraud in the following manner: 

• Damaged or inferior food 
• Misleading or false labeling of the package 
• Products sold under another name, for example bonito labeled as tuna 
• Products that are missing a critical component, for example a package labeled as 

“whole milk” with part of the butterfat removed and analysis reveals that the fat 
content is too low. 

• Allergens 
 

• Misleading size package or improper fill of the package. 
 
U.S. regulations require that food labels meet specific requirements.  If a food is packaged and 
labeled in a language other than English, regulations require that all required statements must 
appear in the second language as well as in English.  
 
The labeling requirements are complex.  The following summarizes the regulations: 

• Name, street address, city, state and zip code of either the manufacturer, packer 
or distributor.  Imported product labels may omit the mail code.   

• An accurate statement of the net amount of food in the package (such as weight 
or volume).  For some foods weight will be reported as drained weight when the 
food product is packaged in a liquid that is not normally consumed as a food 
such as olives packed in brine.  Fill weight regulations are based on Handbook 
133 (Checking the Net Contents of Packaged Goods January 2002).  This 
handbook can be obtained on the web at the following web site:   
http://ts.nist.gov/ts/htdocs/230/235/pubs.htm.   

• The common or usual name of the food and the form of the product such as 
sliced, whole or chopped. 

• The ingredients must be listed by their common or usual names in decreasing 
order in predominance by weight.  Food additives and colors must be listed as 
ingredients. 
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• Nutrition information must be provided on the label for most packaged food 
products intended for sale directly to the consumer.   

 
Detailed information on labeling requirements for food packages can be found at the following 
web site:  http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/lab-ind.html. 
 
The 2002 Farm Act requires U.S. retailers to inform the consumers of the country of origin for the 
following commodities:  muscle cuts of beef, lamb, and pork; farm-raised fish and shellfish; 
ground beef, ground lamb, and ground pork; wild fish and shellfish; fresh and frozen fruits and 
vegetables; and peanuts.  Currently, country of origin labeling in retail markets is voluntary.   It is 
expected that the 2007 Farm Bill will address the issue of country of origin labeling for food 
products that will be sold in the United States.  Such changes in the Farm Bill will cause the 
development of additional U.S. food regulations.  Information of country of origin labeling is 
available on the following Agriculture Marketing Service website:  www.ams.usda.gov/cool . 
 
FDA Bioterrorism regulations 
 
The U.S. FDA issued a series of regulations in response to the terrorism attack of 911.  .  These 
regulations affect companies that wish to export food products that must comply with other FDA 
regulations  (www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/defterr.html)  The Bioterrorism regulations focus on four 
parts 

• Registration of food processing facilities 
• Maintenance of proper records 
• Prior notice of exporting products  
• Administrative detention which includes the refused entriy of imported food products 

 
The owner, operator or agent in charge of a foreign facility that processes, packs or holds food for 
human consumption that will be exported to the U.S. must register with the U.S. FDA.  In addition, 
the foreign facility must identify a person in the United States who will be the U.S. agent for 
purposes of registration. This agent must live or maintain a business in the U.S.  The company is 
encouraged to file the registration on the web at www.access.fda.gov . 
 
Food processors must maintain records of all foods, and/or ingredients received from suppliers.  
Records that must be kept include: 

• the name of the supplier or firm;  
• address;  
• telephone number;  
• fax number and  
• e-mail address,  
• type of food or ingredient, including brand name and specific variety;  
• date products were received;  
• quantity and  
• type of packaging 
• product lot or code number if available, or any other identifier.  

The organization must also keep records on the transportation company that was used to ship 
products and ingredients to the organization and ship products to the customer.  These records 
include  

• the name of the transportation organization  
• address,  
• telephone number--  
• fax number, if available and  
• e-mail address, if available. 

Transportation organization must also maintain a series of recods to comply with FDA 
regulations. 
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The food processor also must keep records that identify the specific source of ingredient that was 
used to make every lot of finished product. 
 
Food processors that are exporting food to the U.S. must submit documents to the FDA  that 
specify specific lots of foods are being shipped to the U.S.  These documents must be received 
prior to the food product entering the U.S.  Prior notice documents can be submitted electronically 
to the FDA.  
 
The FDA has the right to detain any food product that is found to present a threat of serious 
adverse health consequences or death to humans or animals.   
 
Additional information on FDA bioterrorism regulations can be found at the following websites:   
www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/fsbtact.html
www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/fsbtact.html#records  
   
Performance Standards 
  
Major changes are occurring in the U.S. market place.  Modern technologies have made the U.S. 
consumer more aware of nutritional, quality and food safety issues. These and other issues are 
causing changes in the way food processors are managing food production operations and 
causing changes in the food processing regulations.  For example, food processors that 
manufacture or produce meat products, poultry products, fruit and vegetable juices, and seafood 
must implement and maintain a HACCP program.  In addition, the Food and Drug Administration 
and the Food Safety Inspection Service are adopting the use of performance standards to define 
the requirements for food safety that must be achieved rather than describe the processing 
method that must be used to meet the food safety requirements.   
 
Examples of performance standards include the following: 

• Fruit and vegetable juice processors are required to use a process that achieves 
a 5 log10 or 100,000 fold reduction in the numbers of the most resistant pathogen 
in the finished product when compared to the levels that can be present in the 
untreated product products.  This performance standard can be achieved by 
pasteurization, any approved alternative technology, or a combination of 
intervention techniques 
(www.cfsan.fda.gov/~lrd/hhsjuic4.html)..  

• FSIS (http://www.fsis.usda.gov/OPPDE/rdad/FRPubs/95-033F.htm) developed a 
performance standard for cooked beef, roast beef, and cooked corn beef 
products.  These products must be cooked to achieve a 6.5 log10 reduction of 
Salmonella or receive an alternative treatment that achieves an equivalent 
probability that no viable Salmonella organisms remain in the finished product.  In 
addition, it is necessary to demonstrate the reduction of other pathogens and 
their toxins or toxic metabolites necessary to prevent adulteration.  The 
processor must demonstrate that this reduction of pathogens or toxins is 
achieved though out the product.  The lethality process must include a cooking 
step.  The product must also be stabilized in a manner to accomplish the 
following within the product: 1. Prevent the multiplication of toxigenic 
microorganisms such as Clostridium botulinum.  2. Prevent no more that a one 
log10 increase of Clostridium perfringens. 

 
It is expected that both the FDA and FSIS will increase the development of performance 
standards to assure the safety of the U.S. food supply. 

 
Sources of information on U.S. food regulations 
 
The United States government has published the U.S. food laws and regulations on the World 
Wide Web (U.S. laws can be found at the following web site: http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/. 
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U.S. regulations can be found at the following web site:  www.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/cfr-table-
search.html.  These web sites provide valuable information to food processing companies that 
want to export food to the United States.   
 
In addition to the food regulation information that is available on the web, the USDA Foreign 
Agriculture Service provides some marketing information for companies that desire to export 
products to the U.S. (www.fas.usda.gov/importprograms.asp).   
 
Several U.S. governmental agencies publish information to help U.S. companies develop export 
programs to other parts of the world. Information that is available includes market information that 
is developed by the Foreign Agriculture Service  
(www.fas.usda.gov/agx/exporter_assistance.asp).   
 
The Food Safety Inspection Service has published summary information on meat and poultry 
regulations for over 115 countries at the following website: 
www.fsis.usda.gov/Regulations_&_Policies/Index_of_Import_Requirements_by_Country/index.as
p.  
 

SUMMARY 
 
Food processing companies that understand the laws, regulations, customers and demographics 
of the targeted market can develop products that meet the needs of the customer and that benefit 
the food processing company financially. 
 
In the United States, there are several governmental departments (ministries) that are 
responsible for ensuring the safety of the nation’s food supply.  These regulations are readily 
accessible on the World Wide Web.  U.S. food processing regulations can be summarized in the 
following requirements:  

• Food products must be wholesome 
• Food products must be safe or not cause food borne disease when properly 

prepared 
• Food products must be properly labeled. 

  U.S. regulations require that both imported food and domestically produced food meet the same 
food regulations.   
 
The Foreign Agricultural Service provides some marketing information to foreign companies that 
want to export products to the U.S.  In addition, the Foreign Agriculture Service and the Food 
Safety Inspection Service provides information on international markets and international food 
regulations that may be of value to food processors who want to export to other areas of the 
world.   
 

REFERENCE MATERIAL 
 
All the material cited in this article is available on the World Wide Web.  The information was 
accessed and current as of 25 August 2007.   
 
The following are selected web sites that provide detailed information on U.S. food regulations: 
 

Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives  
www.atf.treas.gov  

Code of Federal Regulations 
www.gpo.gov/nara/cfr/cfr-table-search.html

United States Code (U.S. Laws) 
  http://www4.law.cornell.edu/uscode/
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U.S. Customs and Boarder Protection 
  Home Page 
   www.cbp.gov
  Import and export 

www.cbp.gov/xp/cgov/import/commercial_enforcement/bioterrorism
Environmental Protection Agency 

  www.epa.gov
Federal Register 
 www.gpoaccess.gov/fr/index.html
Federal Trade Commission 

www.ftc.gov
Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 

  Home page 
   www.fda.gov
  Acidified and low acid canned food regulations 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~comm/lacf-toc.html
  Bioterrorism regulations 
   www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/fsbtact.html#records
  Center for food safety and applied nutrition 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/list.html
  Color additives 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/col-toc.html
FDA embassy seminars 

www.fda.gov/oia/seminar.htm
  FDA material published in foreign languages 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~mow/internat.html
  Good Manufacturing Practices 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~lrd/part110t.html
  Guidance documents  

www.cfsan.fda.gov/%7Edms/guidance.html
Guide to Minimize Microbial Food Safety Hazards for Fresh Fruits and 
Vegetables  

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/prodguid.html
HACCP 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~lrd/haccp.html 
  Imports and exports 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~lrd/imports.html
  International activities 

www.fda.gov/oia/foodcosm.htm
Labeling 

www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/lab-ind.html
Food Safety Information 

  Food safety a team approach published by  FDA in 1998 
www.cfsan.fda.gov/~lrd/foodteam.html

National food safety programs 
www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/fs-toc.html

   www.FoodSafety.gov
National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) 

  Home page 
   www.nist.gov

Handbook 133: Checking the Net Contents of Packaged Goods 
http://ts.nist.gov/ts/htdocs/230/235/pubs.htm

National Marine and Fisheries Administration (NMFA) 
  www.nmfs.noaa.gov
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United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
  Home page 

www.usda.gov
  Agricultural Marketing Service (AMS) 

www.ams.usda.gov
  Animal Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS)   
   www.aphis.usda.gov
  Food Safety Inspection Service (FSIS) 
   Home page 
    www.fsis.usda.gov
   Export information for meat and poultry 

www.fsis.usda.gov/ofo/export/explib.htm
Foreign Agricultural Service 

   Home Page 
www.fas.usda.gov

Export assistance for U.S. agribusinesses 
www.fas.usda.gov/agx/exporter_assistance.asp

  Grain Inspection, Packers, Stockyard Administration (GIPSA)   
 http://www.gipsa.usda.gov/GIPSA/webapp?area=home&subject=landing&topic=landing
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